# COPY

### IN THE

# MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

OCT 28 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

DOCKET NO. 2008-CA-01062

AAA COOPER TRANSPORTATION, Plaintiff-Appellant,

٧.

CHUCK PARKS, Individually and d/b/a DILLINGHAM MOTORS, and DILLINGHAM MOTORS, Defendant-Appellee.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Tippah County, Mississippi

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANT** 

Asa Baker #100763
Leitner, Williams,
Dooley & Napolitan, PLLC
254 Court Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
901-527-0214

Attorney for AAA Cooper Transportation

#### **Certificate of Interested Persons**

AAA COOPER TRANSPORTATION.

Plaintiff-Appellant,

٧.

#### Statement of the Issues

- I. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying AAA Cooper
  Transportation's motion for additional discovery before responding to Chuck Parks's
  and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment when T. C. Poplar had not
  responded to written discovery despite an order granting a motion to compel and an
  order on a motion for sanctions, when Chuck Parks had not produced important
  documents, such as bills of sale, before the response was due despite a motion to
  compel further responses to written discovery and a deposition revealing the existence
  of such documents, and when Taucia Poplar had not been joined as a party and no
  discovery had been taken from her despite the fact that a motion to amend complaint
  had been filed and set for hearing shortly after she was identified as a potential party
  and a material witness to the case.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors when there are genuine issues as to whether Parks employed T. C. Poplar given that Chuck Parks and T. C. Poplar swear that there was no employment relationship but another witness swears that Chuck Parks employed T. C. Poplar, when there are genuine issues as to whether Chuck Parks sold the vehicle to T. C. Poplar given that there are genuine issues as to the date and amount of the alleged sale, and Chuck Parks did not produce important documents, which are the best evidence of a sale, and did not properly assign title, and when there are genuine issues as to whether Chuck Parks negligently provided T. C. Poplar with a vehicle given that Chuck Parks did not remove the old Illinois license plates, did not provide a temporary tag, did not ask to see Poplar's driver's license, and did not ask to see any identification from T. C. Poplar.

### Statement of the Case

# A. Proceedings Below

On March 28, 2007, AAA Cooper Transportation filed a complaint against T. C. Poplar, Amy Kimkel, Chuck Parks, and Dillingham Motors.<sup>1</sup> The complaint alleged that T. C. Poplar was directly liable to AAA Cooper Transportation for negligence and negligence per se.<sup>2</sup> Also, the complaint alleged that Amy Kimkel, Chuck Parks, and Dillingham Motors were directly liable to AAA Cooper Transportation for negligence.<sup>3</sup> Finally, the complaint alleged that Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors were vicariously liable to AAA Cooper Transportation because they employed Poplar.<sup>4</sup>

On April 20, 2007, T. C. Poplar was served with the complaint. Also, on April 30, 2007, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors were served with the complaint. Finally, on May 16, 2007, Amy Kimkel was served with the complaint.

On May 22, 2007, T. C. Poplar answered the complaint and filed a counter-complaint.<sup>5</sup> On June 8, 2007, after being given an extension of time to respond to the complaint by AAA Cooper Transportation, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors answered the complaint.<sup>6</sup> On June 13, 2007, AAA Cooper Transportation answered the counter-complaint.<sup>7</sup>

On July 6, 2007, AAA Cooper Transportation served interrogatories, requests for production of documents, and requests for admission, on T. C. Poplar.<sup>8</sup> Also, on that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> C.P. 1:1-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> C.P. 1:3-4.

<sup>3</sup> C P 1.5

<sup>4</sup> C.P. 1:2-3

C.P. 1:7-11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> C.P. 1:12-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> C.P. 1:20-21, 24-26.

<sup>8</sup> C.P. 1-22-23

same day, AAA Cooper Transportation served interrogatories and requests for production of documents on Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors. On July 31, 2007, T. C. Poplar responded to AAA Cooper Transportation's requests for admission. However, T. C. Poplar did not respond to AAA Cooper Transportation's interrogatories or requests for production of documents. On that same day, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors responded to AAA Cooper Transportation's written discovery.

On August 28, 2007, AAA Cooper Transportation filed a motion to determine the sufficiency of T. C. Poplar's answers to requests for admission. Also, on that same day, AAA Cooper Transportation filed a motion to compel T. C. Poplar to respond to AAA Cooper Transportation's interrogatories and requests for production of documents. Further, on or about that same day, counsel for AAA Cooper Transportation wrote counsel for Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors an e-mail regarding the insufficiency of Parks's and Dillingham Motors's responses to written discovery. Finally, on that same day, AAA Cooper Transportation noticed its discovery motions for hearing on September 25, 2007.

On or about September 12, 2007, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors filed a motion for summary judgment.<sup>15</sup> The motion was supported by an affidavit from T. C. Poplar.<sup>16</sup> Also, the motion was supported by an affidavit from Chuck Parks.<sup>17</sup> Significantly, Parks and Dillingham Motors did not file an itemization of the facts relied upon and not genuinely disputed with the motion for summary judgment. Also,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> C.P. 1:22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> C.P. 1:27-28.

<sup>11</sup> C.P. 96-111; R.E. 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> C.P. 1:32-38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> C.P. 1:29-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> C.P. 1:31, 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> C.P. 1:40-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 1.45

<sup>7</sup> C D 1:46

significantly, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors did not submit a memorandum of authorities in support of the motion for summary judgment.

AAA Cooper Transportation's motion to determine sufficiency and motion to compel were not heard on September 25, 2007, because of unexpected criminal matters on the trial court's docket. On October 15, 2007, counsel for AAA Cooper Transportation wrote counsel for Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors a lengthy letter regarding the insufficiency of Parks's and Dillingham Motors's responses to written discovery. On or about October 19, 2007, AAA Cooper Transportation re-noticed its discovery motions for hearing on November 29, 2007. On October 26, 2007, counsel for Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors responded to the letter. On or about November 7, 2007, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors noticed their motion for summary judgment for hearing on November 29, 2007.

On November 19, 2007, AAA Cooper Transportation responded to Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment by asking the trial court to strike the motion because it did not include a memorandum of authorities and it did not include a itemization of the facts relied upon and not genuinely disputed.<sup>22</sup> Also, AAA Cooper Transportation responded to Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment by requesting additional time to perform discovery before responding to the motion.<sup>23</sup> On November 26, 2007, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors submitted a memorandum of authorities in support of the motion for summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> C.P. 1:112-114.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> C.P. 1:49-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> C.P. 1:115-117.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> C.P. 1·51-52

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> C.P. 1:52-63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> C.P. 1:52-63

iudament. Also, on November 26, 2007, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors submitted an itemization of facts relied upon and not genuinely disputed.<sup>24</sup>

On November 29, 2007, the trial court granted in part and denied in part AAA Cooper Transportation's motion to determine sufficiency. 25 Also, the trial court granted AAA Cooper Transportation's motion to compel T. C. Poplar to respond to written discovery.<sup>26</sup> Finally, the trial court granted AAA Cooper Transportation's motion for additional time to perform discovery before responding to Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment.<sup>27</sup> The trial court ordered T. C. Poplar to respond to written discovery by December 31, 2007.<sup>28</sup> Also, the trial court ordered AAA Cooper Transportation to take Chuck Parks's deposition by February 1, 2008.<sup>29</sup> Finally. the trial court ordered AAA Cooper Transportation to respond to Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment by, at a minimum, March 1, 2008.<sup>30</sup>

On January 2, 2008, AAA Cooper Transportation filed a motion for sanctions because T. C. Poplar had not responded to written discovery despite the trial court's order.<sup>31</sup> In the motion for sanctions, AAA Cooper Transportation moved the trial court to: 1) dismiss T. C. Poplar's counterclaim against AAA Cooper Transportation; 2) grant AAA Cooper Transportation a default judgment against Poplar; 3) strike Poplar's affidavit in support of Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment; and 4) stay the proceedings on Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment until AAA Cooper Transportation was able to take Poplar's deposition after a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> C.P. 1:73-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> C.P. 1:79-80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> C.P. 1:77-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> C.P. 1:122-125.

default judgment was taken against him. 32 Also, AAA Cooper Transportation filed a motion to compel Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors to further respond to written discovery. 33 AAA Cooper Transportation set the motion for sanctions and motion to compel for hearing on January 10, 2008.34

On January 10, 2008, the trial court denied AAA Cooper Transportation's motion to compel Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors to further respond to written discovery.<sup>35</sup> Also, with respect to the motion for sanctions, the trial court ordered: 1) that T. C. Poplar dismiss his counter-complaint against AAA Cooper Transportation; 2) that Poplar offer to allow a judgment to be taken against him for the money demanded in the complaint by entering into an agreed judgment; and that 3) Poplar submit to a deposition by February 1, 2008.36

Interestingly, the trial court ordered T. C. Poplar to voluntarily dismiss his counter-complaint against AAA Cooper Transportation rather than just dismissing it. Also, interestingly, the trial court ordered T. C. Poplar to voluntarily allow a default judgment to be taken against him rather than just entering a default judgment. Further, interestingly, the trial court did not address the fact that T. C. Poplar had not responded to written discovery despite an order granting a motion to compel even though T. C. Poplar's failure to respond to written discovery was the impetus for AAA Cooper Transportation's motion for sanctions. Finally, the trial court did not strike T. C. Poplar's affidavit in support of Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment and did not stay the proceedings on Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> C.P. 1:122-125. <sup>33</sup> C.P. 1:83-89. <sup>34</sup> C.P. 1:118-121, 126-129.

C.P. 1:138-139, 1:142-143, R.E.48-50.

motion for summary judgment.<sup>37</sup> In sum, then, AAA Cooper Transportation left the hearing on its motion for sanctions without any immediate gain— the trial court did not dismiss the counterclaim, did not grant a default judgment, did not strike the affidavit, and did not stay the proceedings on the motion for summary judgment—but with an immediate obligation—take Poplar's deposition within the next 20 days without the benefit of written discovery responses.

On January 17, 2008, AAA Cooper Transportation took T. C. Poplar's deposition.<sup>38</sup> The deposition was taken pursuant to the trial court's order seven days earlier to take the deposition by February 1, 2008.<sup>39</sup> Also, the deposition was taken without the benefit of T. C. Poplar's responses to written discovery. This was despite the fact that a motion to compel had been filed and granted,<sup>40</sup> and that a motion for sanctions had been filed and ruled upon.<sup>41</sup> In his deposition, T. C. Poplar identified a previously unknown material witness to the case, his daughter Taucia Poplar.<sup>42</sup>

Also, on January 30, 2008, AAA Cooper Transportation took Chuck Parks's deposition. In his deposition, Parks testified as to many documents that had not been produced to plaintiff. This was after plaintiff's motion to compel further responses to written discovery had been heard and denied. These documents included a bill of sale from Anna Jonesboro Motor Company, Inc. Also, these documents included a bill of sale to T. C. Poplar. On February 6, 2008, counsel for plaintiff again followed up

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> C.P. 1:140-141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> C.P. 1:145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> C.P. 1:140-141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> C.P. 1:29-30, 1:77-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> C.P. 1:122-125, 1:140-141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> C. P. 2:264-268.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> C.P. 1:146

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> C.P. 3:338, 341, 362-364, 368, 385, R.E. 55-56, 61-62, 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> T. 3-32, C.P. 1:138-139, 1:142-143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> C.P. 3:363; R.E. 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> C.P. 3:368; R.E. 62.

with counsel for defendants through an e-mail asking for all documents mentioned in Parks's deposition. On February 7, 2008, counsel for defendants responded to counsel for plaintiff's e-mail asking for specific document requests. On February 19, 2008, after waiting for the transcript of Chuck Parks's deposition, counsel for AAA Cooper Transportation propounded specific document requests to counsel for Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors through an e-mail. Counsel for AAA Cooper Transportation never received the document before the deadline for responding to the motion and was never able to question Chuck Parks regarding the documents in a deposition.

On February 7, 2008, in response to the depositions, AAA Cooper Transportation filed a motion to amend complaint.<sup>48</sup> The motion to amend complaint asked, among other things, to add Taucia Poplar as a defendant. 49 At that time, AAA Cooper Transportation requested that defendants consent in writing to the motion. On February 13, 2008, through an e-mail, AAA Cooper Transportation followed up with defendants regarding consent in writing to the motion. On February 15, 2008, through a telephone call, plaintiff followed up with defendants again regarding written consent to the motion. During the telephone call, counsel for T. C. Poplar stated that he could not consent to a motion which proposed to add the daughter of his client as a defendant. However, counsel for Poplar also stated that he would not oppose the motion if it were presented to the trial court. On the same day as the telephone call, counsel for Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors expressed his preference that the motion be heard on the same day as the hearing on Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment. However, counsel for Parks and Dillingham Motors never stated whether his client would consent in writing to the motion or whether they would oppose the motion. On

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> C.P. 2:147-148. <sup>49</sup> C.P. 2:147-148.

Monday, February 18, 2008, after obtaining dates from the court, AAA Cooper Transportation noticed the motion for hearing on Tuesday, February 26, 2008.<sup>50</sup> On Tuesday, February 19, 2008, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors responded to the motion by asking the court to delay the hearing on the motion.<sup>51</sup> On Wednesday, February 20, 2008, AAA Cooper Transportation replied to the response.<sup>52</sup> On that same day, the trial court indicated that it would delay the hearing on AAA Cooper Transportation's motion to amend until the hearing on Parks's and Dillingham Motor's motion for summary judgment.

On February 29, 2008, AAA Cooper Transportation submitted a substantive response to Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment.<sup>53</sup> The substantive response argued, among other things, that T. C. Poplar's and Chuck Parks's testimony regarding the transaction should be excluded under the best evidence rule because Chuck Parks had not produced the bill of sale and other documents which were the best evidence of the transaction. In support of its substantive response, AAA Cooper Transportation filed 1) the deposition transcript of T. C. Poplar;<sup>54</sup> 2) the deposition transcript of Chuck Parks;<sup>55</sup> 3) the affidavit of Todd Leidold;<sup>56</sup> 4) an application for certificate of title form;<sup>57</sup> 5) the certificate of title;<sup>58</sup> and 6) a Mississippi Sales Tax Return Form.<sup>59</sup> In addition to the substantive response, AAA Cooper Transportation also requested additional time to perform discovery before

<sup>50</sup> C.P. 2:149-150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> C.P. 2:161-162.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> C.P. 2:151-160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> C.P. 2:163-205.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> C.P. 2:213 – 3:318.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> C.P. 3:319-421.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> C.P. 2;206.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> C.P. 3:422-424.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> C.P. 3:425-426.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> C.P. 3;427-430.

responding to the motion<sup>60</sup> After AAA Cooper Transportation submitted a substantive response to Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's motion for summary judgment. including the argument that testimony regarding the transaction should be excluded under the best evidence rule because Parks had not produced the bill of sale, Parks produced additional documents, including the bill of sale from Anna Jonesboro Motor Company, Inc. to Parks and the bill of sale from Chuck Parks to T. C. Poplar, On March 14, 2008, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors replied to the response. 61

On March 19, 2008, AAA Cooper Transportation filed an amended motion to amend complaint.<sup>62</sup> The amended motion to amend complaint sought, among other things, to clarify AAA Transportation's claims against Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors to include negligence, negligence per se, negligent entrustment, and respondeat superior. 63 On March 21, 2008, Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors responded to the amended motion to amend complaint.64

On May 13, 2008, the trial court denied AAA Cooper Transportation's motion for additional discovery and granted Chuck Parks's and Dillingham Motors's Motion for summary judgment. 65 Also, on that date, the trial court found that there was no just reason for delay in entering a judgment in favor of Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors. 66 Further, on May 13, 2008, the trial court granted in part and denied in part AAA Cooper Transportation's amended motion to amend complaint.<sup>67</sup> The trial court

<sup>60</sup> C.P. 2:163-205.

C.P. 4:452-460.

C.P. 3:431-443.

C.P. 4:461-463, R.E. 7-9.

C.P. 4:461-463, R.E. 7-9.

allowed AAA Cooper Transportation to add Taucia Poplar as a defendant.<sup>68</sup> However, the trial court denied AAA Cooper Transportation the ability to amend its complaint as to Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors.<sup>69</sup>

#### B. Statement of Facts

T. C. Poplar is a 51 year old resident of Alcorn County, Mississippi.<sup>70</sup> For the past 6 years, T. C. Poplar states that he has been unemployed because he is disabled.<sup>71</sup>

Chuck Parks is a 40 year old resident of Alcorn County, Mississippi.<sup>72</sup> For the past 12 years, Chuck Parks has been the sole proprietor of Dillingham Used Cars.<sup>73</sup> Also, during that time, Chuck Parks has been a landlord, running the business out of his office at Dillingham Used Cars.<sup>74</sup> Chuck Parks has never received any formal training on how to be a used car dealer.<sup>75</sup> Also, he has never produced any documents showing that he is licensed, bonded used car dealer, whose site has been inspected by the Mississippi State Tax Commission.<sup>76</sup>

Dillingham Used Cars is located in Tippah County, Mississippi, on United States Highway 72.<sup>77</sup> Dillingham Used Cars sits on approximately 10 unpaved acres, and has an office, a shop, and a mobile home.<sup>78</sup> The mobile home, which Chuck Parks began renting out when he acquired the business, is 10 yards from the shop and 30 yards from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> T. 33-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> T. 33-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> C.P. 2:225-226.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> C.P. 2:227.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> C.P. 3:326; R.E. 52

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