IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AAA COOPER TRANSPORTATION

APPELLANT

v.

Case No.: 2008-CA-01062

CHUCK PARKS, INDIVIDUALLY AND D/B/A/ DILLINGHAM MOTORS AND DILLINGHAM MOTORS

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TIPPAH COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

H. Richmond Culp, III, MS Bar No. MITCHELL, MCNUTT & SAMS, P.A. 105 South Front Street P.O. Box 7120 Tupelo, MS 38802-7120 (662) 842-3871

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES CHUCK PARKS, INDIVIDUALLY AND D/B/A/ DILLINGHAM MOTORS AND DILLINGHAM MOTORS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AAA COOPER TRANSPORTATION

APPELLANT

v.

Case No.: 2008-CA-01062

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

AAA Cooper submits a dizzying volley of conjecture and hypotheticals in an effort to support a claim for liability against Mr. Parks where none exists. Following leave to conduct depositions, and after all of the resources of the plaintiff have been marshaled to present a genuine issue of material fact, no such evidence was presented in response to the Summary Judgment Motion of Chuck Parks d/b/a Dillingham Motors. Chuck Parks has established as a matter of law that the Dodge Avenger was sold to T. C. Poplar prior to the collision that is the subject of this lawsuit. While AAA Cooper Raises a host of concerns about the sales transaction, it is uncontroverted that T. C. Poplar holds at the very least

two, and probably all three, of the indicia of ownership required by the Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>Hobbs Automotive</u>, <u>Inc. d/b/a Kim's Chrysler Dodge</u>, Jeep, Toyota v. Dorsey, 914 So.2d 148, 167 (Miss. 2005). Since T. C. Poplar owned the Dodge Avenger on December 20, 2005, Parks could not have negligently entrusted the same to Poplar.

However, even if this court were to reject the Circuit Court's finding of ownership of the Dodge Avenger by T.C. Poplar, and believe that a jury issue exists as to the ownership of the vehicle in question, plaintiff's claims of negligent entrustment are nevertheless doomed because of the failure to present any evidence whatsoever of facts supporting a claim of negligent entrustment. This is so, even after plaintiff had the opportunity to depose both Mr. Parks and Mr. The best argument plaintiff can muster in an effort Poplar. to establish negligent entrustment is the fact that Mr. Parks did not try to determine whether T. C. Poplar was a licensed This argument, however, has expressly been rejected driver. by this Court in Laurel Yamaha, Inc. v. Freeman, 956 So.2d 897 (Miss. 2007) as а basis for a finding of negligent entrustment. The Circuit Court was correct in finding that Chuck Parks d/b/a Dillingham Motors is entitled to judgment as law on plaintiff's theory of а matter of negligent entrustment, even if a finder of fact were to reject the

assertions that Poplar, and not Parks, owned the vehicle in question on December 20, 2005.

The remaining theory of liability is based on respondeat superior AAA Cooper argues that Chuck law. Parks is responsible for the accident and resulting property damage as an alleged employer of T. C. Poplar. Both Parks and T. C. Poplar deny any employment relationship whatsoever. AAA Cooper's paid investigator/witness has arguably created a genuine issue of material fact regarding that employment relationship, although the Circuit Court aptly noted that even this affidavit lacks important specifics. (Transcript from Summary Judgment Hearing, p. 56, l. 17 thru p. 57, l. 21). What neither the retained witness, nor the depositions of Mr. Poplar and Mr. Parks, nor any of the other collateral issues raised by the plaintiff in numerous pages dedicated to defeating this summary judgment can supply, is any evidence whatsoever that Poplar, Т. С. assuming an employment relationship, was "in the course and scope of his employment" at 3:16 a.m. on the morning of December 20, 2005. Plaintiff unquestionably would bear this burden of proof at trial and has failed to offer any conjecture, let alone any admissible evidence as to why and how T. C. Poplar could possibly have been in the course and scope of his alleged employment with AAA Cooper is required to offer admissible Mr. Parks.

evidence on this issue and because it cannot and did not present any such evidence, the Circuit Court was correct in ruling that Mr. Parks is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

spite of AAA Cooper's protestations, in In depth discovery and best efforts to defeat summary judgment by raising the existence of "contested issues," Appellant failed wholly to provide any proof whatsoever regarding the most material of facts for which it would bear the burden of production at trial. It is all but axiomatic to note that the existence of a hundred contested yet collateral issues does not and cannot thwart summary judgment where plaintiff fails wholly to tender any evidence supporting a genuine issue of Although numerous immaterial facts may be material fact. controverted, only those that affect the outcome of a claim will preclude summary judgment. Summers v. St. Andrews Episcopal School, 759 So.2d 1203 (Miss. 2000). It was AAA Cooper's failure to present evidence regarding issues of material fact that supported - and still does - the award of Summary Judgment to Chuck Parks d/b/a Dillingham Motors.

In its simplest form, AAA Cooper's Complaint against Chuck Parks and Dillingham Motors is based on two theories. However, AAA Cooper has failed to present genuine issues of

material fact supporting elements of proof for which it bears the burden at trial on <u>both</u> of these two theories of recovery. Summary judgment is mandated where the non-moving party fails to show evidence sufficient to establish the existence of an essential element to his case, in other words, a genuine issue of <u>material</u> fact. <u>Wilbourne v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward</u>, 687 So.2d 1205, 1214 (Miss. 1996).

I. Plaintiff's First Theory of Recovery - Negligent

In <u>Sligh v. First Nat'l Bank of Holmes County</u>, 735 So.2d 963 (Miss. 1999), the Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the Restatement (Second) of Torts definition of **negligent entrustment**. Liability under this theory is defined as follows:

One who supplies directly or through a third person a chattel for use of another whom the supplier knows or has reason to know to be likely because of his youth, inexperience, or otherwise, to use it in a manner involving unreasonable risk of physical harm to himself and others whom the supplier should expect to share in or be endangered by its use, is subject to liability for physical harm resulting to them.

Id. at 969 (¶ 32); <u>Restatement (Second) of Torts § 390</u>. Thus, the plaintiff must prove the following elements in order to make out a prima facie case of **negligent entrustment**: (1) that the defendant supplied a third party with the chattel in question for the use of the third party; (2) that the supplier

of the chattel knew or should have known that the third party would use the chattel in a manner involving an unreasonable risk of harm; and (3) that harm resulted from the use of the chattel.

AAA Cooper's negligent entrustment theory was swiftly attacked by Mr. Parks who presented proof that he had transferred ownership of the vehicle to T.C. Poplar on December 14, 2005, well before the December 20, 2005 accident. Parks naturally argues that because he had sold the Dodge Avenger, he could not be held liable for negligent entrustment in light of the Mississippi Supreme Court's clear mandate in Laurel Yamaha, Inc. v. Freeman, 956 So.2d 897 (Miss. 2007). This court just last year specifically refused to recognize either a claim for negligent entrustment in the context of a sales transaction or the imposition of any duty upon a seller to restrict motor vehicle sales to drivers or to determine the competence of drivers as a part of the sale. Id. at 905.

In the instant case, plaintiff has raised more than a few concerns regarding the sufficiency of the sales agreement between Parks and Poplar. Among plaintiff's concerns are that Chuck Parks did not remove the old Illinois license plate before selling the Dodge Avenger to T. C. Poplar; that Chuck Parks did not provide a temporary tag to T. C. Poplar, that Chuck Parks did not properly reassign the title, that he did

not provide a buyer's guide and that he did not provide a privacy notice to Mr. Poplar.

however, are not These concerns, recognized under Mississippi law as indicia of ownership. This Court has held that the three primary indicia of ownership are title, Hobbs Automotive, Inc. d/b/a Kim's possession and control. Chrysler Dodge, Jeep, Toyota v. Dorsey, 914 So.2d 148, 167 (Miss. 2005). T. C. Poplar met all three of these criteria. He unquestionably had both possession and control over the vehicle on the date of the accident. This has not at any time been denied by AAA Cooper, and although Appellant has raised a barrage of collateral concerns about a temporary tag, removal of the old license plate from Illinois, and the failure to provide a buyer's guide, privacy notice or a consumer credit disclosure, there has been no legitimate attack on the title which was signed by T. C. Poplar on December 14, six days before the accident, and held by Mr. Parks who maintained a security interest in the vehicle. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 110-111) Therefore, Parks d/b/a Dillingham Motors stands firmly by the assertion that he could not have negligently entrusted the Dodge Avenger to T. C. Poplar, the "owner" as defined by Mississippi law.

For the sake of argument, however, even were this Court to determine (notwithstanding the fact that T. C. Poplar

clearly held two, and arguably all three, of the indicia of ownership required by this Court) that a jury issue exists as to ownership of the Dodge Avenger on the date of the accident, there has been no evidence whatsoever submitted by plaintiff of the second component of that theory of liability, that being any specific act of negligent entrustment. The only whiff that AAA Cooper makes is the suggestion that Chuck Parks was negligent because he did not ask to see T. C. Poplar's driver's license. From that suggestion, plaintiff makes the "Nike leap of logic" that evidence of negligent entrustment has been satisfied. In fact, AAA Cooper cites Mississippi Code Annotated, Section 63-1-63 in support of this assertion.

The problem with this leap is that reliance on Section 63-1-63 is precisely the modicum of proof flatly rejected by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Laurel Yamaha, Inc. v. Freeman, 956 So.2d 897 (Miss. 2007). In that case, the Freemans asserted that Laurel Yamaha violated Mississippi Code Annotated Section 63-1-63, constituting negligence per se. This is exactly the argument made by plaintiff in this case. As in this case, the Freemans asserted that a prudent retailer would have inquired as to why a party was not licensed and would not let the purchaser drive away from the dealership if not properly licensed. This Court flatly rejected this argument and said that there was no language, either in

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 63-1-6 or Mississippi Code Annotated Section 63-1-63, which imposes <u>any</u> such legal duty upon the seller of a vehicle. AAA Cooper incorrectly characterized this as "a conflicted and undeveloped" legal question under Mississippi law. The Mississippi Supreme Court said clearly that it was "unwilling to impose" such duties where not expressly created by statute, and found the negligent entrustment claim based on the same "without merit." Laurel Yamaha, 956 So.2d at 903, 905.

Other than the suggestion that Chuck Parks should have inquired about the driver's license of T. C. Poplar, there is no other evidence whatsoever of record that can support a finding of negligent entrustment necessary for plaintiff to succeed at trial, even if a fact finder were to determine that Chuck Parks, and not T. C. Poplar, was the owner of the Dodge Avenger on the morning of December 20, 2005.

It is, of course, all but axiomatic to note that the mere ownership of a vehicle alone is insufficient to support a claim for liability resulting from an operator's negligence. Woods v. Nichols, 416 So.2d 659, 664 (Miss. 1982).

II. Plaintiff's Second Theory of Recovery -- Vicarious Liability.

AAA Cooper's second theory of liability is based on the assertion that Parks was the employer of Poplar and vicariously liable for Poplar's negligence under the respondeat superior doctrine. AAA Cooper has asserted that T. C. Poplar was an employee of Chuck Parks at the time of the accident. Frankly, Chuck Parks fails to see why T. C. Poplar, represented by separate counsel, who has submitted both a contrary affidavit and deposition testimony, would not admit to an employment relationship, if one in fact existed or even arguably existed, as it would inure to his benefit greatly. Both T. C. Poplar and Chuck Parks have adamantly held the position, and supported by affidavit and deposition testimony, that T. C. Poplar was not employed by Mr. Parks at the time of the accident.

AAA Cooper raises a smattering of issues that he claims raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not Mr. Poplar was an employee of Chuck Parks during the relevant times in question. Appellant claims that because Mr. Poplar would occasionally stand around the premises of Mr. Parks and watch other people work, and because another person who lived in the mobile home with Mr. Poplar ran errands for Mr. Parks, and because Mr. Poplar cannot remember details about his

whereabouts prior to the accident, somehow a genuine issue of material fact is raised as to the employment of Mr. T. C. Poplar. These, again, constitute impermissible leaps of logic.

Parks concedes that the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom a summary judgment motion is asserted. While Mr. Parks is adamant that he did not employ T. C. Poplar prior to the December 20th accident, the affidavit of a witness paid by the plaintiff, at the very least, could create a genuine issue as to whether Mr. Parks ever employed T. C. Poplar.

Does this mean, however, that plaintiff is entitled to a The answer is clearly, "No." Why? jurv trial? Again, we return to the standards for summary judgment. The focal point whether or not a plaintiff, responding to a summary is judgment motion, has presented evidence sufficient to establish the existence of a material fact or essential element to his case. A fact is "material" if it tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties. Spradlin v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 650 So.2d 1838 (Miss. 1995). Assuming AAA Cooper creates, by the Leidold affidavit, a genuine issue of fact that T. C. Poplar was employed at some undefined point in time by Chuck Parks, this proof alone is legally insufficient to hold Parks

responsible under a theory of respondeat superior. The standard for invoking liability vicariously under this theory requires the tortious acts perpetrated by employees to be committed, "<u>in the course and scope of their employment</u>." (emphasis added) <u>Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc.</u>, 631 So.2d 143 (Miss. 1994).

Assuming a jury would believe AAA Cooper's witness regarding the existence of an employment relationship between T. C. Poplar and Chuck Parks, there still must be some measure of proof that the employee was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident. In this case, this would be an essential element of proof for AAA Cooper which, notwithstanding the depositions of T. C. Poplar and Chuck and notwithstanding numerous collateral issues and Parks. ventures in conjecture, has not even made one attempt to state . a plausible basis for an assertion that T. C. Poplar was in the course and scope of his employment at 3:16 a.m. on December 20, 2005. In fact, there was no proof elicited from either Mr. Parks or Mr. Poplar regarding this issue. This "course and scope" question, is an issue of material fact for which plaintiff bears, at the very least, a burden of production in order for a jury to even consider this theory of vicarious liability. Without any proof to support even this minimal burden of production, plaintiff's claims fail.

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